
 

 

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT  

 

The financial statements of Distinction Energy Corp. were prepared by management in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.  

Management has designed and maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance 
that all assets are safeguarded and to facilitate the preparation of financial statements for reporting 
purposes. Timely release of financial information sometimes necessitates the use of estimates when 
transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized until future periods. Such 
estimates are based on careful judgments made by management. External auditors appointed by the 
shareholders have conducted an independent examination of the Company’s accounting records in 
order to express their opinion on the financial statements.  

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for 
financial and internal control. The Board exercises this responsibility through its Audit Committee. The 
Audit Committee, which consists of non-management members, has met with the external auditors and 
management in order to determine that management has fulfilled its responsibilities in the preparation 
of the financial statements. The Audit Committee has reported its findings to the Board of Directors who 
have approved the financial statements. 
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President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman 
 
Signed ‘P. Eric Gallie’ 
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Chief Financial Officer and Director 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 

To the Shareholders of Distinction Energy Corp. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Distinction Energy Corp. (formerly 
Delphi Energy Corp.) (the “Company”), which comprise: 

− the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and 
December 31, 2019 

− the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the years then ended 

− the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended 

− the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended 

− and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and December 
31, 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
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Other Information  

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises:  

− the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the 
relevant Canadian Securities Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with 
the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, 
based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the 
auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

− Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

− Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

− Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

− Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

− Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

− Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

− Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Kimberly J. Payne. 
 

 
 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Calgary, Canada 
March 17, 2021 
 



 
 

DISTINCTION ENERGY CORP. (FORMERLY DELPHI ENERGY CORP.) 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

 December 31 December 31 

(thousands of dollars) 2020 2019 

   

Assets   

Current assets   

 Cash  45,912 526 

 Accounts receivable (Note 8) 8,127 12,673 

 Prepaid expenses and deposits 3,017 1,738 

 Fair value of financial instruments (Note 6) - 6,306 

 57,056 21,243 

   
Fair value of financial instruments (Note 6) 166 23 

Exploration and evaluation (Note 9) 9,072 8,963 

Property, plant and equipment (Note 10) 227,225 272,119 

Total assets 293,519 302,348 

   

Liabilities   

Current liabilities   

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 11) 11,736 18,440 

Lease liabilities (Note 13) 123 590 

Fair value of financial instruments (Note 6) 53 - 

   Provisions (Note 17) 147 1,921 

 12,059 20,951 

   

Long term debt (Note 15) - 46,363 

Senior secured notes (Note 16) - 103,510 

Lease liabilities (Note 13) 628 715 

Provisions (Note 17) 34,652 23,550 

Total liabilities 47,339 195,089 

   

Shareholders’ equity   

Share capital (Note 19) 131,454 353,842 

Warrants (Note 19) 4,594 5,627 

Contributed surplus 395,402 22,201 

Deficit (285,270) (274,411) 

Total shareholders’ equity 246,180 107,259 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 293,519 302,348 

 
Commitments (Note 26) 
Subsequent events (Note 6, 19, 28)  
 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
(signed) “Timothy Schneider”   (signed) “Shawn Singh” 
Timothy Schneider    Shawn Singh 
Director      Director 
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DISTINCTION ENERGY CORP. (FORMERLY DELPHI ENERGY CORP.) 

Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

  

(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)   2020 2019 

     

Revenues     

Crude oil and natural gas sales (Note 20)   56,373 93,138 

Marketing revenue   8,060 19,828 

Royalties   (4,395) (6,472) 

Other income   732 - 

   60,770 106,494 

     

Realized gain on financial instruments (Note 6)   21,948 13,310 

Unrealized loss on financial instruments (Note 6)   (6,216) (20,297) 

   76,502 99,507 

Expenses     

Operating   19,925 28,684 

Transportation   9,311 13,091 

Marketing   12,602 3,825 

General and administrative   7,883 5,275 

Restructuring costs (Note 22)   8,617 - 

Share-based compensation (Note 19)   3,891 216 

Gain on property dispositions and derecognition    - (350) 

Gain on derecognition of lease obligation    - (66) 

Loss on debt extinguishment (Note 12)   6 3,156 

Gain on compromise of liabilities (Note 23)   (76,140) - 

Depletion, depreciation and impairment (Note 10)   77,959 102,372 

   64,054 156,203 

Finance costs (Note 24)   23,307 18,674 

Loss before income taxes   (10,859) (75,370) 

     

Income taxes     

Deferred income tax recovery (Note 18)   - (789) 

Net loss and comprehensive loss   (10,859) (74,581) 

     

Net loss per share (Note 19)     

Basic and diluted   (1.78) (12.25) 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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DISTINCTION ENERGY CORP. (FORMERLY DELPHI ENERGY CORP.) 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

     

(thousands of dollars)   2020 2019 

     

     

Share capital (Note 2, 19)     

Balance, beginning of year   353,842 347,011 

Private placement    10,000 10,000 

Private placement share issue costs   (159) (3,169) 

Cancellation of share capital    (363,683) - 

Issuance of common shares pursuant to the Plan   132,543 - 

Share issue costs pursuant to the Plan   (1,089) - 

Balance, end of year   131,454 353,842 

     

Warrants (Note 2, 16, 19)     

Balance, beginning of year   5,627 3,055 

Issued with Senior Secured Notes, net of tax    - 2,969 

Warrant issue costs   - (397) 

Cancellation of warrants    (5,627) - 

Issuance of warrants pursuant to the Plan   4,642 - 

Warrant issue costs pursuant to the Plan   (48) - 

Balance, end of year   4,594 5,627 

     

Contributed surplus (Note 2, 19)     

Balance, beginning of year   22,201 21,803 

Share-based compensation    3,891 398 

Cancellation of common shares    363,683 - 

Cancellation of warrants    5,627 - 

Balance, end of year   395,402 22,201 

     

Deficit     

Balance, beginning of year   (274,411) (199,830) 

Net loss   (10,859) (74,581) 

Balance, end of year   (285,270) (274,411) 

     

Total shareholders’ equity   246,180 107,259 

     

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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DISTINCTION ENERGY CORP. (FORMERLY DELPHI ENERGY CORP.) 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
   

(thousands of dollars)   2020 2019 

     

Cash flow from (used in) operating activities     

Net loss    (10,859) (74,581) 

Adjustments for:     

  Depletion, depreciation and impairment (Note 10)   77,959 102,372 

  Accretion and finance charges (Note 24)   11,195 2,595 

  Share-based compensation (Note 19)   3,891 216 

  Gain on property dispositions and derecognition   - (350) 

  Gain on derecognition of lease obligation   - (66) 

  Loss on debt extinguishment (Note 12)   6 3,156 

  Gain on compromise of liabilities (Note 23)   (76,140) - 

  Unrealized loss on financial instruments (Note 6)   6,216 20,297 

  Deferred income tax recovery (Note 18)   - (789) 

Settlement of unutilized take-or-pay commitment (Note 17)   (225) (672) 

Decommissioning expenditures (Note 17)   (886) (155) 

Change in non-cash working capital (Note 27)   9,710 593 

   20,867 52,616 

Cash flow from (used in) financing activities     

Issue of common shares, net of issue costs (Note 19)   35,777 6,831 

Issue of warrants in accordance with Plan, net of issue costs (Note 19)   4,594 - 

Senior secured notes compromise payment (Note 16)   (224) - 

Obligations under finance leases    (608) (832) 

Decrease in senior credit facility (Note 15)   (19,856) (20,379) 

Issue of senior secured notes, net of issue costs (Note 16)   5,414 1,995 

Warrants issued with senior secured notes, net of issue costs    - (397) 

   25,097 (12,782) 

     

Cash flow from (used in) investing activities     

Additions to exploration and evaluation (Note 9)   (109) (447) 

Additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 10)   (22,938) (28,402) 

Change in non-cash working capital (Note 27)   22,469 (14,164) 

   (578) (43,013) 

     

Increase (decrease) in cash    45,386 (3,179) 

Cash, beginning of year   526 3,705 

Cash, end of year   45,912 526 

     

Cash interest paid   4,699 15,899 

  
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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DISTINCTION ENERGY CORP. (FORMERLY DELPHI ENERGY CORP.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)  

1) STRUCTURE OF DISTINCTION  

 Distinction Energy Corp. (“Distinction” or the “Company”) (formerly Delphi Energy Corp.) is a reporting issuer engaged in 
the exploration for, development and production of crude oil and natural gas from properties and assets located in Western 
Canada in which it holds an interest. The Company’s operations are concentrated in the Deep Basin of Northwest Alberta, 
from which in excess of 95 percent of the Company’s production is obtained. The head office of the Company is located at 
Suite 2300, 333 – 7th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 2Z1. 

 The consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 comprise the accounts of the 
Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries and a partnership.  As further disclosed in Notes 2 and 25, Kiwetinohk Resources 
Corp. (“Kiwetinohk”) and Luminus Energy IE Designated Activity Company (“Luminus Energy”) hold approximately 25 
percent and 42.7 percent, respectively, of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company as at December 31, 
2020. 

2) PLAN OF COMPROMISE AND ARRANGEMENT 

At the end of March 2020, due principally to the rapid decline in crude oil prices, Distinction was facing a breach of its Total 
Debt to EBITDA ratio at March 31, 2020 under its credit agreement with its senior secured lenders. As a result, on April 14, 
2020, the Company commenced proceedings under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (“CCAA”) in the Court of 
Queen’s Bench of Alberta (the “Court”). 

To provide the required liquidity during the CCAA proceedings, the Company obtained interim financing arrangements 
provided by ATB Financial pursuant to an interim letter of credit facility (the “Interim Letter of Credit Facility”) and by Luminus 
Energy pursuant to an interim loan facility (the “Interim Loan Facility”), together to form the interim financing (the “Interim 
Financing”) (see Note 14).  

On September 9, 2020, the previously announced plan of compromise and arrangement (the “Plan”) was approved by the 
required majorities of holders of the Company’s senior secured notes due 2023 and General Unsecured Creditors (as such 
term is defined in the Plan). On September 11, 2020, the Company obtained an order of the Court sanctioning the Plan 
under the CCAA. 

On October 16, 2020, the Company completed the restructuring and transactions contemplated under the Plan and emerged 
from CCAA. The following is a summary of the material features of the Plan: 

 The Company’s indebtedness was reduced by $185.9 million (note 23); 

 The Interim Loan Facility, senior secured facility and senior secured notes have been settled in exchange for 14.8 
percent, 14.2 percent and 36.4 percent, respectively, of the issued and outstanding voting common shares of a 
newly created class of shares of the Company (the “New Shares”); 

 Second lien beneficial noteholders holding $897,000 face value of senior secured notes received an aggregate of 
$224,250 of cash payments pursuant to Second Lien Opt-Out Elections (as such term is defined in the Plan); 

 In exchange for $8.75 million from plan sponsors to implement the Plan, issued 9.6 percent of the issued and 
outstanding New Shares; 

 In exchange for $22.9 million, the Company issued to Kiwetinohk (i) 25 percent of the issued and outstanding New 
Shares (on a non-diluted basis), plus (ii) purchase warrants (“New Warrants”) that are exercisable into such number 
of New Shares as will result in Kiwetinohk holding 50 percent+1 of the issued and outstanding diluted New Shares 
for payment of an aggregate exercise price equal to $40.0 million (Note 19); 

 General Unsecured Creditors, including second lien beneficial noteholders in respect of a deficiency claim (as such 
terms defined in the Plan), became entitled to a payment in respect of their accepted claims based on their pro rata 
share of a General Unsecured Creditor cash pool in the amount of $3 million, less amounts required to fund 
payments to Convenience Class Creditors (as such terms defined in the Plan); 
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 All previously existing common shares, warrants and options of the Company (collectively, the “Equity Claims”) 
were cancelled and extinguished for no consideration and without any return of capital. Holders of Equity Claims 
were not entitled to attend or vote at shareholder meetings. In connection with the Plan, the Company has entered 
into a new investor agreement with Luminus Energy and Kiwetinohk granting them certain board nomination and 
approval rights; and 

 Distinction has granted to certain officers and directors of the Company options and restricted share units entitling 
them to acquire in the aggregate ten percent of the issued and outstanding New Shares. 

3) BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

(a) Statement of compliance and authorization 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Certain comparatives have 
been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on March 
17, 2021. 

(b) Basis of measurement and functional currency 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, using historical costs, except for 
derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars, the Company’s functional currency and rounded to the nearest thousand (unless stated otherwise). 

(c) Significant judgment and estimates 

The timely preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. By their nature, these estimates are subject to 
measurement uncertainty and the effect on the consolidated financial statements of changes in such estimates in future 
periods could be material. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and judgments are continuously 
evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions made by management in these financial statements are discussed 
below. 

Crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserves 

Estimates of recoverable quantities of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves have an effect on a number of 
the items referred to below, in particular, the valuation of property, plant and equipment and the calculation of depletion 
and depreciation. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating oil and natural gas reserves. Estimating 
reserves is very complex, requiring many judgments based on commodity prices, exchange rates, discount rates and 
production and transportation costs for future cash flows. It also requires interpretation of complex geological and 
geophysical models in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and quality of reservoirs and their 
anticipated recoveries. The economic, geological and technical factors used to estimate reserves may change from 
period to period. Changes in these factors could have a material impact on the estimated reserves. These estimates 
may change, having either a negative or positive effect on the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) as further 
information becomes available and as the economic environment changes. Reserves have been evaluated at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 by Distinction’s independent qualified reserves evaluator. 

Determination of a cash generating unit (“CGU”) 

The recoverability of development and production asset carrying values are assessed at the CGU level. The 
determination of CGUs requires judgment in defining a group of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent from other assets or group of assets.  CGUs have been determined based on similar geological structure, 
geographical proximity, shared infrastructure, production profiles, market risks and materiality. By nature, these 
assumptions are subject to management’s judgment and may impact the carrying value of the Company’s assets in 
future periods. The Company’s CGUs could change in the future as a result of development, acquisition or disposition 
activity.  
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Impairment of non-financial assets 

Significant judgment is required to assess the Company’s non-financial assets, namely Exploration and Evaluation 
(“E&E”) and property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”), for impairment or potential reversals of previously recorded 
impairment.  Management must first determine whether indicators of impairment exist that suggest the carrying value 
of the asset may not be recoverable through its continued use or sale.  In addition, judgment is required to assess 
whether a previously recognized impairment for an asset no longer exists or has decreased.   

For PP&E, management considers changes in assumptions relating to future commodity prices, future costs and 
significant revisions of estimated recoverable reserves when assessing if indicators of impairment or impairment 
reversals are present. For exploration and evaluation assets, particularly undeveloped land, Distinction considers the 
expiration date of the leases, management’s intention and ability to develop the land and if possible, current market 
prices. The above does not represent an exhaustive list but rather the most significant factors taken into consideration 
when assessing the presence of indicators of impairment or impairment reversals.  

The recoverable amount of a CGU or of an individual asset is determined as the greater of its fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use. The key input estimates Distinction applies in determining an acceptable range of 
recoverable amounts include forward price estimates of crude oil and natural gas, volume of reserves and associated 
assumptions, discount rates, timing of cash flows, the useful lives of assets and their related salvage values. 

In estimating the recoverable amount of a CGU, the following information is incorporated: 

 the net present value, using pre-tax discount rates, of expected future cash flows based on proved and probable 
reserves as estimated by the Company’s independent qualified reserve evaluator;  

 the fair value of undeveloped land based on an internal assessment made by management; 

 Data pertaining to ongoing and completed transactions with the industry on assets with similar geological and 
geographic characteristics within the relevant CGU. 

Key inputs used in the determination of cash flows from oil and gas reserves include the following: 

 Reserves - Assumptions that are valid at the time of reserve estimation may change significantly when new 
information becomes available. Changes in forward commodity price estimates, production costs, future 
development expenditures or recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves and may ultimately 
result in reserves being adjusted. 

 Oil and gas prices - Forward price estimates of oil and natural gas prices are used in the cash flow model. 
Commodity prices fluctuate widely due to global and regional factors including a global pandemic or natural 
disaster and the respective responses from various levels of government, supply and demand fundamentals, 
inventory levels, exchange rates, weather, economic and geopolitical factors. 

 Discount rate – Estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Changes in 
the general economic environment could result in significant changes to this estimate. 

Depreciation and depletion 

Management estimates the useful lives of production equipment and other assets based on the period during which the 
assets are expected to be available for use. For crude oil and natural gas properties, the estimated useful lives are 
based on proved and probable reserves as determined annually by the Company’s independent engineers and internal 
estimates on a quarterly basis determined in accordance with National Instrument 51-101 (“NI 51-101”) and the 
Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook (“COGEH”).  

Calculations for the depletion of crude oil and natural gas properties are based on total capitalized costs plus estimated 
future development costs of proved and probable reserves less the estimated salvage value of production equipment 
and facilities after the proved and probable reserves are fully produced.  

Decommissioning obligations 

Provisions for decommissioning obligations associated with the Company’s operations are based on current legal and 
constructive requirements, technology, price levels and expected plans for remediation. Actual costs and timing of cash 
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outflows may differ from estimates because of changes in laws and regulations, public expectations, prices, discovery 
and analysis of site conditions, changes in clean up technology and changes in discount rates. 

Fair values of stock options, restricted share units and warrants 

The fair value of stock options, restricted share units and warrants granted is measured using a Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. Measurement inputs such as the anticipated volatility of the share price over the life of the instruments, 
the risk-free interest rate for the life of the instrument, expected life and the number of instruments that will ultimately 
vest require management judgment and estimates.  

Deferred income taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated tax consequences between amounts 
included in the financial statements and their tax base using substantively enacted future income tax rates. Timing of 
future revenue streams and future capital spending changes can affect the timing of the reversal of temporary 
differences and accordingly affect the amount of the deferred income tax asset or liability calculated at a point in time. 
Tax regulations and legislation are subject to change and there are differing interpretations requiring judgment. Deferred 
tax assets are recognized when it is considered probable that deductible temporary differences will be recovered in 
future periods, which requires judgment. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized when it is considered probable that 
temporary differences will be payable to tax authorities in future periods, which requires judgment.  Income tax filings 
are subject to audits and re-assessments and changes in facts, circumstances, and interpretations of the standards 
may result in a material increase or decrease in the Company’s provision for income taxes. These differences could 
materially impact earnings (loss). 

(d) Significant accounting policies, new and future accounting standards 

The significant accounting policies applied by the Company in preparing these consolidated financial statements are 
detailed in note 29 followed by new and future accounting standards in note 30. 

4) NOVEL CORONAVIRUS COVID-19 (“COVID-19”) 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic; prompting many countries around 
the world to close international borders an order the closure of institutions and businesses deemed non-essential. At 
the same time, the Organization of Petroleum and Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and non-OPEC members, primarily 
Saudi Arabia and Russia, increased the planned supply of crude oil in an attempt to trigger a price war over market 
share.  The sudden decrease in global crude oil demand due to COVID-19 coupled with a planned increase in supply 
significantly reduced commodity prices.   

In subsequent months, OPEC, Russia and other oil producing countries around the world have agreed to reduce global 
crude oil production, bringing the oversupply of crude oil closer into balance with demand.  Crude oil prices have partially 
recovered from the historic lows observed earlier in 2020, but price support from future demand remains uncertain.  
Efforts to re-open local economies and international borders around the world are resulting in varying degrees of virus 
outbreak.  Many countries have now re-imposed restrictions as regions experience a second wave of COVID-19.  
Vaccination programs have begun around the world, however, the pace with which vaccines are administered is 
dependent on the supply access and logistics organized by individual nations. 

The COVID-19 pandemic is an evolving situation that will continue to have widespread implications for our business 
environment, operations and financial conditions. The full extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s 
operations and future financial performance is currently unknown. It will depend on future developments that are 
uncertain and unpredictable, including the duration and spread of COVID-19, its continued impact on capital and 
financial markets on a macro-scale and any new information that may emerge concerning the severity of the virus. 
These uncertainties may persist beyond when it is determined how to contain the virus or treat its impact. The outbreak 
presents uncertainty and risk with respect to the Company, its performance, and estimates and assumptions used by 
management in the preparation of its financial results. 

5) DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 

 A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. IFRS establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows: 

Level 1 – Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active 
markets are those in which transactions occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis. 
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Level 2 – Valuations are based on inputs, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value and volatility 
factors which can be substantially observed or corroborated in the marketplace.  

Level 3 – Valuations in this level are those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data.  

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods:  

(a) Cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the fair value of cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximated their carrying value due to their short term to maturity. 

(b) Property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets: 

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognized in a business combination is based on market values.  The 
market value of property, plant and equipment is the estimated amount for which property, plant and equipment could 
be exchanged on the acquisition date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.  The market value of oil and natural gas 
interests are estimated with reference to the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from oil and natural gas 
production based on externally and internally prepared reserve reports.  The risk adjusted discount rate is specific to 
the asset with reference to general market conditions. The market value of exploration and evaluation assets are 
estimated with reference to the market values of current arm’s length transactions in comparable locations. 

(c) Derivatives: 

Distinction’s foreign exchange, basis differential and commodity contracts are measured at level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy. The fair value of commodity contracts is determined by discounting the remaining contracted petroleum and 
natural gas volumes by the difference between the contracted price and published forward price curves as at the 
consolidated financial position date. The fair value of foreign exchange rate swap contracts is determined by 
discounting the net future cash flows based on the fixed and floating rates associated with the notional amounts. 

6) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

   The Company is exposed to market, credit and liquidity risks.  This note provides information about the Company’s exposure 
to each of the below risks and the Company’s policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Risk management 
policies are ultimately established by the Board of Directors and implemented and monitored by senior management. 

(a) Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates could adversely affect the value of the Company’s financial assets, liabilities, and expected future cash flows.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while 
optimizing returns. 

 Commodity price risk 

 The Company’s operational results and financial condition are largely dependent on the commodity prices received for 
its crude oil and natural gas production. Significant changes in commodity prices can materially impact cash flows and 
the Company’s borrowing base limit. Commodity prices may be impacted by multiple factors including a global pandemic 
or natural disaster and the respective responses from various levels of government, supply and demand fundamentals, 
regional egress constraints, inventory levels, weather, economic, and geopolitical factors.  

The Company has a commodity price risk management program in place whereby the commodity price associated with 
a portion of its future production is fixed. The Company sells forward a portion of its future production by entering into 
derivative financial contracts with financial institutions. The Company generally enters into commodity contracts to a 
range of 40 – 70 percent of current production volumes when considered appropriate. 
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As at December 31, 2020, Distinction had the following commodity price risk management contracts: 

Crude Oil Contracts 

Time Period Type of Contract 
Quantity 

Contracted Price ($/unit) Reference 

January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 150 bbls/d $58.45 Cdn WTI 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 150 bbls/d $54.40 Cdn WTI 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 150 bbls/d $55.00 Cdn WTI 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 125 bbls/d $58.50 Cdn WTI 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 125 bbls/d $56.20 Cdn WTI 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 125 bbls/d $55.70 Cdn WTI 

Natural Gas Contracts 

 

Basis Differential Contracts 

Distinction ships approximately half of its natural gas production through the Alliance pipeline system into the Chicago 
market. As a result, the Company has entered into NYMEX to Chicago basis differential contracts in order to fix the basis 
on a portion of its natural gas sales in the Chicago market. 

 
Time Period 

 
Type of Contract 

Quantity 
Contracted Price ($/unit) Reference 

January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,700 gj/d $2.78  Cdn AECO 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,700 gj/d $2.51  Cdn AECO 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,700 gj/d $2.525  Cdn AECO 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,575 gj/d $2.43  Cdn AECO 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,575 gj/d $2.27  Cdn AECO 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,575 gj/d $2.27  Cdn AECO 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 750 gj/d $2.49  Cdn AECO 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 750 gj/d $2.37  Cdn AECO 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 750 gj/d $2.30  Cdn AECO 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 675 gj/d $2.25  Cdn AECO 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 675 gj/d $2.24  Cdn AECO 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 675 gj/d $2.13  Cdn AECO 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,550 mmbtu/d $3.91  Cdn NYMEX 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,550 mmbtu/d $3.56  Cdn NYMEX 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,550 mmbtu/d $3.61  Cdn NYMEX 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,475 mmbtu/d $3.81  Cdn NYMEX 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,475 mmbtu/d $3.59  Cdn NYMEX 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,475 mmbtu/d $3.56  Cdn NYMEX 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 700 mmbtu/d $3.69  Cdn NYMEX 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 700 mmbtu/d $3.59  Cdn NYMEX 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 700 mmbtu/d $3.51  Cdn NYMEX 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 650 mmbtu/d $3.41  Cdn NYMEX 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 650 mmbtu/d $3.44  Cdn NYMEX 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 650 mmbtu/d $3.31  Cdn NYMEX 

 
Time Period 

 
Type of Contract 

Quantity 
Contracted 

Differential 
(U.S. $/unit)) 

January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,550 mmbtu/d ($0.115) 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,550 mmbtu/d ($0.190) 
January 2021 – March 2021 Fixed price swap 2,550 mmbtu/d ($0.200) 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,475 mmbtu/d ($0.240) 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,475 mmbtu/d ($0.255) 
April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 1,475 mmbtu/d ($0.260) 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 700 mmbtu/d ($0.100) 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 700 mmbtu/d ($0.110) 
January 2022 – June 2022 Fixed price swap 700 mmbtu/d ($0.195) 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 650 mmbtu/d ($0.225) 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 650 mmbtu/d ($0.210) 
July 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 650 mmbtu/d ($0.250) 
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As at December 31, 2020, if the future strip prices for crude oil were $1.00 per barrel higher or lower with all other variables 
held constant, the fair value of the oil risk management contracts and net earnings would change by $0.2 million.  As at 
December 31, 2020, if the future strip prices for natural gas were $0.10 per gigajoule or million British thermal unit higher 
or lower with all other variables held constant, the fair value of the natural gas risk management contracts and net earnings 
would change by $0.7 million.   

Subsequent to December 31, 2020, the Company entered into the following risk management contracts: 

Crude Oil Contracts 

Time Period Type of Contract Quantity Contracted Price ($/unit) Reference 

March 2021  Fixed price swap 750 bbls/d $79.25 Cdn WTI 
April 2021  Fixed price swap 150 bbls/d $78.45 Cdn WTI 
May 2021– December 2021 Fixed price swap 750 bbls/d $75.05 Cdn WTI 
January 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 750 bbls/d $69.95 Cdn WTI 

Natural Gas Contracts 

 
Basis Differential Contracts 

 Currency risk 

Although the majority of the Company’s petroleum and natural gas sales in 2020 were denominated in Canadian dollars, 
commodity prices are largely denominated in U.S. dollars and as a result the prices that Canadian producers receive 
are influenced by the relationship between the Canadian and U.S. dollar.  An increase in the value of the Canadian dollar 
as compared to the U.S. dollar will reduce the prices received by the Company for its crude oil and natural gas sales. 

Distinction ships approximately half of its natural gas production through the Alliance pipeline system into the Chicago 
market.  Distinction’s realized natural gas price is largely based on the Chicago index, increasing the foreign currency 
exchange risk on the Company’s revenues, transportation expenses and financial instruments that are denominated in 
U.S. dollars. 

At December 31, 2020, the Company had $0.1 million in U.S. dollars included in cash on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.   

As at December 31, 2020, the Company did not have any foreign exchange rate swaps in place. 

 Interest rate risk 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates.  Distinction 
is exposed to interest rate risk as the interest charged on its senior credit facility is at a floating rate and consequently 
changes in market interest rates will have an effect on the Company’s cash flow. 

During 2020, had the interest rate charged on the Company’s senior credit facility been one percent higher, the net 
earnings would have decreased by $0.2 million. 

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

Distinction’s risk management contracts are subject to master netting agreements that create the legal right to settle on 
a net basis. The following derivative financial assets and financial liabilities were offset on the consolidated statement of 
financial position: 

 

 
Time Period 

 
Type of Contract 

Quantity 
Contracted Price ($/unit) Reference 

April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 7,500 mmbtu/d $3.61  Cdn NYMEX 
January 2022 – December 2022 Fixed price swap 2,500 mmbtu/d $3.30  Cdn NYMEX 

 
Time Period 

 
Type of Contract 

Quantity 
Contracted 

Differential 
(U.S. $/unit)) 

April 2021 – December 2021 Fixed price swap 7,500 mmbtu/d ($0.190) 
January 2022– December 2022 Fixed price swap 2,500 mmbtu/d ($0.095) 
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 2020 2019 
 
 
 
As at December 31, 

Financial 
Assets 

Financial 
Liabilities 

Net 
Financial 

Assets 
(Liabilities)  

Financial 
Assets  

Financial 
Liabilities  

Net Financial 
Assets 

(Liabilities)  

Risk management contracts       
  Current asset - - - 6,780 (474) 6,306 
  Current liability 858 (911) (53) - - - 
  Long term asset 315 (149) 166 166 (143)   23 
  Long term liability - - - - - - 

Net asset 1,173 (1,060) 113 6,946 (617) 6,329 

 The fair value of the Company’s risk management contracts as at December 31, 2020 is estimated to be a net asset of 
$0.1 million (December 31, 2019, net asset of $6.3 million) with the change in fair value of $6.2 million (2019 : $20.3 
million) included in unrealized loss on financial instruments in the consolidated statement of loss. For the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2020, Distinction’s risk management contracts resulted in realized gains of $21.9 million (2019: 
$13.3 million).  

(b) Credit risk 

 Credit risk represents the risk of financial loss to the Company if customers or counterparties to a financial instrument 
fail to meet their contractual obligations and arise principally from the Company’s receivables from joint interest partners, 
crude oil and natural gas marketers and financial intermediaries. 

 All of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers and joint interest partners in the oil and gas industry and 
are subject to normal industry credit risks.  Receivables from joint interest partners are typically collected within one to 
three months of the joint venture bill being issued.  The Company attempts to mitigate the risk related to joint interest 
receivables by obtaining partner pre-approval of significant capital expenditures prior to expenditure. However, partners 
are exposed to various crude oil and natural gas industry and market risks that could result in non-collection.  In addition, 
further risk exists with joint interest partners as disagreements occasionally arise that increase the potential for non-
collection. 

 Receivables from crude oil and natural gas marketers are normally collected on the 25th day of the month following 
production. The Company’s policy to mitigate credit risk associated with these balances is to establish marketing 
relationships with large purchasers.  Distinction sells the majority of its production to three major purchasers and is 
therefore exposed to concentration risk. The Company historically has not experienced any collection issues with large 
purchasers. 

 The Company does not typically obtain collateral from crude oil and natural gas marketers or joint interest partners, 
however, the Company does have the ability to request pre-payment of certain major capital expenditures and withhold 
production from joint interest partners in the event of non-payment. 

 With respect to counterparties to financial commodity contracts, the Company partially mitigates associated credit risk 
by limiting transactions to counterparties with investment grade credit ratings. 

 The carrying amount of accounts receivable and cash represents the maximum credit exposure. As at December 31, 
2020, the Company’s receivables included $6.0 million of receivables from crude oil and natural gas marketers and 
financial institutions for settlements of risk management contracts which have been collected subsequent to December 
31, 2020. As at December 31, 2020, $0.5 million (December 31, 2019: $1.4 million) of the Company’s receivables are 
past due, primarily from joint interest partners.   Although the accounts from joint interest partners are past due, they 
are still deemed collectible. As at December 31, 2020, the Company has a provision for uncollectible accounts of $0.2 
million. 

 Distinction’s accounts receivables are aged as follows: 

 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Current (less than 90 days) 7,601 11,239 
Past due (more than 90 days) 526 1,434 

Total  8,127 12,673 
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(c)   Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations associated with financial liabilities that 
are settled by cash as they become due.  The Company’s financial liabilities arise through the cost of operations and 
the capital program in order to maintain or increase production and develop reserves, the acquisition of crude oil and 
natural gas assets, financial instrument contracts and borrowings under the Company’s credit facilities. 

 The Company generates a certain level of cash flow from operations which is used to partially fund operating, investing 
and capital activities.  Distinction attempts to match its payment cycle with the collection of petroleum and natural gas 
revenues on the 25th of each month.  In addition, the Company has a 364 day revolving credit facility in the amount of 
$30.0 million with a one year term-out provision (see note 15). The Company also mitigates liquidity risk by maintaining 
an insurance program to minimize exposure to insurable losses. 

The expected timing of cash flows relating to financial liabilities as at December 31, 2020 is as follows: 

Financial liabilities 
Carrying 
amount < 1 Year 1 – 2 Years 3 – 5 Years Thereafter 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,736 11,736 - - - 
Lease obligations 751 192 186 351 - 

Total 12,487 11,928 186 351 - 

7) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 The Company’s objective in managing its capital is to ensure adequate and appropriate sources of capital are available to 
execute a capital investment program while maintaining a flexible overall capital structure.  Maintaining a flexible capital 
structure is important due to the inherent risks in oil and gas operations and the volatility of commodity prices. 

The Company considers share capital and net debt, being the secured debt, current liabilities less current assets (excluding 
the fair value of financial instruments), as the components of capital to be managed. 

The key measure used by the Company to evaluate its capital structure is the ratio of net debt to adjusted funds flow. 
Adjusted funds flow is defined as cash flow from operating activities before decommissioning expenditures and changes in 
non-cash working capital from operating activities.  This ratio represents the time period required to repay the Company’s 
net debt from funds generated from operations on the assumption there are no further capital expenditures incurred and 
adjusted funds flow remain constant.  The measure is often calculated on an annualized most recent quarter basis to provide 
a more current view of the Company’s capital structure. This ratio may increase at certain times as a result of acquisitions, 
the timing of capital expenditures or change in commodity prices. 

Net debt and adjusted funds flow are non-IFRS terms. 

In order to facilitate the management of this ratio, the Company prepares annual adjusted funds flow and capital expenditure 
forecasts, which are updated as necessary throughout the year and are reviewed and periodically approved by Distinction’s 
Board of Directors. The Company manages its capital structure by keeping abreast of current and forecast economic 
conditions and commodity prices, particularly natural gas and crude oil prices and the cost of oilfield services.   Additionally, 
the Company establishes internal processes to monitor and estimate planned capital expenditures, forecast adjusted funds 
flow and forecast net debt levels. 

At December 31, 2020, the Company did not have any secured debt and had a $45.0 million working capital surplus.  On 
October 16, 2020, in accordance with the Plan, the Company compromised $155.7 million of secured debt and $30.2 million 
of trade payables (Note 23) and issued New Shares for gross proceeds of $31.7 million (Note 19).  The Company’s net debt 
position is expected to increase upon the closing of the Acquisition announced in February 2021 (Note 28). 

The Company maintains an active risk management program as an integral part of its capital management strategy to 
mitigate the volatility in adjusted funds flow resulting from fluctuating commodity prices. The net debt to adjusted funds flow 
ratio is the key driver in determining whether to maintain or alter the capital structure. To alter the capital structure of the 
Company, consideration is given to the level of credit available under current credit facilities, the proceeds on disposition of 
properties, the amount of the planned capital expenditure program and the offering of new common share equity if available 
on acceptable terms.  There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the period. 

The Company’s share capital is not subject to external restrictions. 
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8) ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Accounts receivable is comprised as follows: 

 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Revenue 6,152 8,031 
Joint Partners 1,519 3,968 
Other  456 674 

Total 8,127 12,673 

9) EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 
    Total 

Balance at December 31, 2018    9,488 

Additions    797 
Transfer to oil and gas properties    (1,322) 

Balance at December 31, 2019    8,963 

Additions    109 

Balance at December 31, 2020    9,072 

Exploration and evaluation assets consist of the Company’s exploration projects which are pending the determination of 
proven and probable reserves.   

During 2020, Distinction added $0.1 million of exploration and evaluation expenditures related to developing the Montney 
formation at Bigstone. 

In 2019, Distinction added $0.8 million of exploration and evaluation expenditures related to developing the Montney 
formation at Bigstone.  During the second quarter of 2019, Distinction exchanged certain assets with no book value for 
exploration and evaluation assets with a fair value of $0.4 million, resulting in a gain of $0.4 million. The Company transferred 
$1.3 million of exploration and evaluation assets to property, plant and equipment following the addition of proved and 
probable reserves. 

10) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 
Cost 

Crude oil and 
natural gas 
properties 

Production 
equipment 

Other 
assets Total 

Balance as at December 31, 2018 638,293 62,192 1,461 701,946 
Additions 26,103 2,419 60 28,582 
Decommissioning obligations (2,712) (940) - (3,652) 
Right of use assets - 2,949 662 3,611 
Disposals and derecognition - (1,760) - (1,760) 
Transfers from exploration and evaluation assets 1,322 - - 1,322 

Balance at December 31, 2019 663,006 64,860 2,183 730,049 

Additions 21,669 1,259 16 22,944 
Decommissioning obligations 8,835 1,232 - 10,067 
Right of use assets - 45 9 54 
Disposals and derecognition - - (47) (47) 

Balance at December 31, 2020 693,510 67,396 2,161 763,067 
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Accumulated depletion and depreciation 

Crude oil  and 
natural gas 
properties 

Production 
equipment 

Other 
assets Total 

Balance as at December 31, 2018 (331,965) (22,925) (1,021) (355,911) 
Depletion and depreciation (38,939) (1,460) (236) (40,635) 
Impairment loss (54,363) (7,374) - (61,737) 
Disposals - 353 - 353 

Balance as at December 31, 2019 (425,267) (31,406) (1,257) (457,930) 

Depletion and depreciation (27,819) (76) (207) (28,102) 
Impairment loss (45,446) (4,261) (150) (49,857) 
Disposals - - 47 47 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 (498,532) (35,743) (1,567) (535,842) 

     
Net book value as at December 31, 2020 194,978 31,653 594 227,225 

Net book value as at December 31, 2019 237,739 33,454 926 272,119 

Distinction’s senior credit facility is secured by a demand floating charge debenture and a general security agreement over 
all assets.  

Distinction has included $385.6 million (December 31, 2019 - $475 million) for future development costs and excluded $7.4 
million (December 31, 2019 - $7.4 million) for estimated salvage from the depletion and depreciation calculation for the 
three months ended December 31, 2020. 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Distinction capitalized $0.4 million (December 31, 2019 - $1.9 million) of employee 
salaries and benefits and $nil (December 31, 2019 - $0.2 million) of share-based compensation expense directly related to 
exploration and development activities. 

Impairment 

At December 31, 2020, Distinction evaluated its PP&E for indicators of impairment or reversal of previously recognized 
impairment and determined that as a result of the improvement in commodity prices, the Company’s improved liquidity, 
increase in reserves and decrease in future development costs, indicators of a reversal of impairment were identified.  As 
such, an impairment test was performed on property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) and right of use assets (“ROU”) assets.  
For the December 31, 2020 test, PP&E and ROU assets were assessed based on the recoverable amount estimated using 
a value in use calculation based on expected future cash flows generated from proved and proved plus probable reserves 
using pre-tax discount rates ranging from ten percent to 20 percent based on the independent third party external reserves 
report. A total impairment recovery of $65.0 million was recognized at December 31, 2020 in the Company’s Bigstone CGU, 
with $64.9 million recognized on PP&E and $0.1 million recognized on ROU assets, which has been included in the 
depletion, depreciation, amortization and impairment expense. 

The initial impairment expense of $114.9 million on PP&E and ROU assets recognized at March 31, 2020, net of the 
impairment recovery of $65.0 million at December 31, 2020 on PP&E and ROU assets, resulted in a net impairment expense 
of $49.9 million recognized for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
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The following independent reserves evaluators’ price estimates were used in the determination of future cash flows for the 
impairment test as at December 31, 2020: 

 Natural Gas Oil    
  AECO/NIT NYMEX Edmonton NYMEX Pentanes Plus  Exchange 

 Spot Henry Hub Light WTI Edmonton Inflation Rate 

Year $CDN/MMBtu $US/MMBtu $CDN/bbl $US/bbl $CDN/bbl % $US/$CDN 

2021 2.72 2.75 55.49 48.00 60.65 0.0 0.775 

2022 2.67 2.80 60.78 51.50 65.36 1.0 0.765 

2023 2.60 2.85 63.82 54.50 70.07 2.0 0.760 

2024 2.60 2.90 68.14 57.79 74.72 2.0 0.760 

2025 2.65 2.95 69.67 58.95 76.25 2.0 0.760 

2026 2.71 3.01 71.22 60.13 77.80 2.0 0.760 

2027 2.76 3.07 72.80 61.33 79.38 2.0 0.760 

2028 2.81 3.13 74.42 62.56 81.00 2.0 0.760 

2029 2.87 3.19 76.07 63.81 82.64 2.0 0.760 

2030 2.92 3.25 77.59 65.09 84.30 2.0 0.760 

2031+ +2.0%/yr. +2.0%/yr. +2.0%/yr. +2.0%/yr. +2.0%/yr. 2.0 0.760 

The recoverable amount is highly sensitive to the discount rate and forecast future commodity prices. Holding all other 
variables constant, if the average discount rate applied to the Bigstone CGU increased by one percent, the impairment 
reversal would have decreased by $13.9 million. 

At March 31, 2020, the Company identified indicators of impairment on its Bigstone CGU due to the outbreak of the COVID-
19 pandemic coupled with the Saudi Arabia - Russia oil price war resulting in both a decrease in oil demand and a significant 
drop in the forward commodity price curves. 

The Company performed an impairment test on its Bigstone CGU, based on the recoverable amount estimated using a 
value in use calculation derived from expected future cash flows generated from proved and probable reserves using a 
blended pre-tax discount rate of approximately 15 percent plus an estimate of the fair value of the undeveloped land 
associated with the Bigstone CGU that is not considered exploration and evaluation. The difference between the carrying 
amount and the estimated recoverable amount resulted in the recognition of a $114.8 million impairment. In addition, an 
impairment related to a change in estimates of decommissioning obligations for non-producing properties of $0.1 million 
was also recognized. 

The following independent reserves evaluators’ price estimates were used in the determination of future cash flows for the 
impairment test as at March 31, 2020: 

 Natural Gas Oil    
  AECO/NIT NYMEX Edmonton NYMEX Pentanes Plus  Exchange 

 Spot Henry Hub Light WTI Edmonton Inflation Rate 

Year $CDN/MMBtu $US/MMBtu $CDN/bbl $US/bbl $CDN/bbl % $US/$CDN 

2020 Q2-Q4 1.72 2.05 31.22 30.00 37.47 0.0 0.720 

2021 2.02 2.55 47.95 41.00 52.05 0.0 0.730 

2022 2.12 2.65 56.46 47.50 61.56 1.0 0.735 

2023 2.22 2.75 64.19 52.50 68.92 2.0 0.740 

2024 2.31 2.85 71.81 57.50 75.84 2.0 0.745 

2025 2.41 2.95 73.27 58.95 77.27 2.0 0.750 

2026 2.46 3.01 74.84 60.13 78.84 2.0 0.750 

2027 2.52 3.07 76.44 61.33 80.44 2.0 0.750 

2028 2.57 3.13 78.08 62.56 82.08 2.0 0.750 

2029 2.62 3.19 79.75 63.81 83.75 2.0 0.750 

2030+ +2.0%/yr. +2.0%/yr. +2.0%/yr. +2.0%/yr. +2.0%/yr. 2.0 0.750 

The recoverable amount is highly sensitive to the discount rate and forecast future commodity prices. Holding all other 
variables constant, if the discount rate applied to the Bigstone CGU increased to 16 percent, the impairment would have 
increased by $11.3 million. 

In the second quarter of 2019, Distinction identified indicators of impairment, primarily due to further significant declines in 
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forecasted commodity prices, particularly for natural gas and natural gas liquids, and a market capitalization deficiency 
relative to the book value of the Company’s shareholders’ equity.  The Company performed an impairment test on its 
Bigstone CGU, based on the recoverable amount estimated using a value in use calculation derived from expected future 
cash flows generated from proved and probable reserves using a blended pre-tax discount rate of approximately 13.5 
percent plus an estimate of the fair value of the undeveloped land associated with the Bigstone CGU that is not considered 
exploration and evaluation.  The difference between the carrying amount and the estimated recoverable amount of $266.4 
million resulted in the recognition of a $61.2 million impairment. In addition, an impairment related to a change in estimates 
of decommissioning obligations for non-producing properties of $0.5 million was also recognized. 

The following independent reserves evaluators’ price estimates were used in the determination of future cash flows for the 
impairment test as at June 30, 2019: 

 Natural Gas Oil    
  AECO/NIT NYMEX Edmonton NYMEX Pentanes Plus  Exchange 

 Spot Henry Hub Light WTI Edmonton Inflation Rate 

Year 
$CDN/ 
MMBtu $US/MMBtu $CDN/bbl $US/bbl $CDN/bbl % 

$US/ 
$CDN 

2019 Q3-Q4 1.33 2.53 68.09 58.75 71.38 0.0 0.760 
2020 1.90 2.80 72.08 62.50 77.27 2.0 0.770 
2021 2.15 2.95 74.05 65.00 79.75 2.0 0.790 
2022 2.40 3.10 76.88 67.50 83.13 2.0 0.800 
2023 2.55 3.20 80.63 70.00 86.88 2.0 0.800 
2024 2.75 3.30 83.75 72.50 90.00 2.0 0.800 
2025 2.85 3.38 86.88 75.00 93.13 2.0 0.800 
2026 2.95 3.45 90 77.50 96.25 2.0 0.800 
2027 3.04 3.52 92.71 79.67 98.96 2.0 0.800 
2028 3.11 3.58 94.71 81.27 100.96 2.0 0.800 

2029+ +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr 2.0 0.800 

 
11) ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are comprised as follows: 

 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Trade  7,009 11,470 
Royalties  1,271 968 
Joint partners 2,205 2,672 
Capital  1,251 2,939 
Other  - 391 

Total 11,736 18,440 

12) CAPITAL SURCHARGE 

   Capital Surcharge 

Balance as at December 31, 2019   - 

Fair value of payments   1,781 

Deferred finance charges   (543) 

Payments made   (1,409) 

Effective interest   171 

Balance as at December 31, 2020   - 

The Company received funds to build certain infrastructure in order to connect to a third party pipeline to transport field 
condensate from the Company’s main battery. The funds received plus a certain after-tax rate of return (“Capital Surcharge”) 
were to be repaid via a monthly toll based on volumes that were transported via the third party pipeline. The Company 
expected to repay the Capital Surcharge over five years, the maximum term for repayment.  Accordingly, the Company 
recognized a liability for the Capital Surcharge and used a discount rate of 11.25 percent to fair value the estimated cash 
outflows associated with the monthly toll.  The Capital surcharge had an effective interest rate of 28 percent.  In December 
2020, the Company repaid the Capital Surcharge and recognized a loss of six thousand on extinguishment. 
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13) LEASE LIABILITY 
 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Balance as at December 31, 2019  1,305 - 
Additions  54 3,611 
Reassessment of right of use asset - (1,474) 
Lease payments related to right-of-use assets (708) (1,124) 
Lease payments recognized as interest expense 100 292 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 751 1,305 

 
Current portion 123 590 
Long term portion 628 715 

Total 751 1,305 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Distinction recognized $0.4 million (December 31, 2019: $0.7 million) of lease 
payments related to short term leases and $0.2 million (December 31, 2019: $0.3 million) of lease payments related to 
variable lease payments which are not included in the measurement of lease liabilities. 

14) INTERIM FINANCING 

   Interim Financing 

Balance as at December 31, 2019   - 

Interim loan facility   13,500 

Transaction costs   (473) 

Amortization of transaction costs   473 

Interim loan facility (Note 2)   13,500 

Compromised in accordance with the Plan   (13,500) 

Balance, end of year   - 

During the CCAA proceedings, the Company obtained Interim Financing from ATB Financial and Luminus Energy. The 
Interim Financing was composed of a $6.25 million Interim Letter of Credit Facility provided by ATB Financial and a $13.5 
million Interim Loan Facility provided by Luminus Energy.  

On October 16, 2020 and in accordance with the Plan, the Interim Loan Facility and the accrued and unpaid interest was 
compromised in its entirety in exchange for approximately 14.8 percent of the issued and outstanding New Shares of 
Distinction. Including accrued and unpaid interest, the Company recognized a $13 thousand gain on the compromise of the 
Interim Loan Facility (Note 23). 

15) LONG TERM DEBT  

 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Senior Credit Facility (1)   
   Bankers’ acceptances, net of discount - 46,363 

Total - 46,363 
(1) As at December 31, 2020, the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $6.0 million.  

During the fourth quarter, concurrently with the implementation of the Plan, the Company obtained a $30 million senior 
secured revolving credit facility from ATB Financial. The senior secured facility is available on a revolving basis until May 
31, 2021, at which time it may be extended at the lender’s option. If the revolving period is not extended, the undrawn portion 
of the facility will be cancelled and the amount outstanding would be required to be repaid at the end of the non-revolving 
term being May 29, 2022. 

The borrowing base of the credit facility is reviewed semi-annually by the lender and based on the lender’s evaluation of 
the Company’s petroleum and natural gas reserves and commodity prices at the time of the review.  A decrease in the 
borrowing base resulting in borrowing base shortfall would require a repayment to the lenders within 60 days of any amounts 
drawn in excess of the reduced borrowing base. The next scheduled borrowing base review must be completed by May 31, 
2021.  Interest payable on amounts drawn under the facility is at the prevailing bankers’ acceptance or LIBOR rates plus 
stamping fees, lenders’ prime rate or U.S. base rate plus the applicable margins, depending on the form of borrowing by 
the Company.  The applicable margins and stamping fees are based on a sliding scale pricing grid tied to the Company’s 
trailing debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ratio: from a minimum of the bank’s prime rate 
or U.S. base rate plus 2.0 percent to a maximum of the bank’s prime rate or U.S. base rate plus 4.0 percent or from a 
minimum of bankers’ acceptances or LIBOR rate plus a stamping fee of 3.0 percent to a maximum of bankers’ acceptances 
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rate plus a stamping fee of 5.0 percent. 

The credit facility is secured by a $200.0 million demand floating charge debenture and a general security agreement over 
all of the assets of the Company.   

The terms of the credit facility does not contain any financial covenants. 

As at December 31, 2020, Distinction had $24.0 million (net of outstanding letters of credit) available to be drawn on the 
senior credit facility. 

Compromise of Senior Credit Facility 

The commencement of the CCAA proceedings was an event of default under the senior credit facility resulting in the 
automatic termination of the borrowing base and acceleration of the amounts outstanding under the senior credit facility.  
On May 8, 2020, Luminus Energy, purchased an assignment of all of the rights of Distinction’s first lien senior secured 
lenders under Distinction’s credit facilities in the amount of $13.0 million. Luminus Energy is a related party of Distinction 
which, prior to the implementation of the Plan, through one or more of its pooled investment vehicles or affiliates thereof, 
held 14,065,138 common shares, representing approximately 57 percent of Distinction’s then outstanding common shares, 
and approximately $58.7 million principal amount of Distinction’s senior secured notes, representing approximately 49 
percent of the then outstanding senior secured notes. 

On October 16, 2020, in accordance with the Plan, the senior credit facility and the accrued and unpaid interest was 
compromised in its entirety in exchange for approximately 14.2 percent of the issued and outstanding New Shares of 
Distinction.  Including the accrued and unpaid interest, the Company recognized a $37 thousand gain on the compromise 
of the senior credit facility (Note 23). 

16) SENIOR SECURED NOTES 
 
 

 Senior Secured Notes 

Balance as at December 31, 2018  100,099 
Accretion of discount and amortization of issue costs  1,745 

Balance before debt modification  101,844 

   
Face value of Existing Notes  105,000 
Allocated to consent warrants  (3,758) 

Balance, Existing Notes  101,242 
Issued  5,499 
Transaction costs  (3,504) 
Accretion of discount and amortization of issue costs  273 

Balance December 31, 2019  103,510 

Issued  5,501 

Transaction costs  (87) 

Accretion of discount and amortization of issue costs  1,508 

Acceleration of accretion and amortization of issue costs  9,234 

Compromised in accordance with the Plan  (119,666) 

Balance, end of year  - 

On November 26, 2019, the Company completed a series of transactions (collectively, the “Recapitalization Transaction”) 
in which, among other things, extended the maturity date of the senior secured notes to from July 2021 to April 15, 2023 
and contemplated the issuance of up to $22.0 million of additional senior secured notes through the issuance of 22.0 million 
note subscription receipts (“NSRs”). The NSRs were to be held in escrow until exchanged for senior secured notes of the 
Company, upon the satisfaction of certain conditions.  In 2019, 7.3 million NSRs were exchanged for $7.3 million of principal 
amount of senior secured notes for gross proceeds of $5.5 million.  In February 2020, an additional 7.3 million NSRs were 
exchanged for $7.3 million senior secured notes for gross proceeds of $5.5 million.  As a result of the commencement of 
CCAA proceedings on April 14, 2020, a return event related to the Recapitalization Transaction occurred and the 7.4 million 
remaining and outstanding NSRs were cancelled with the escrowed proceeds returned to the NSR holders.  

On October 16, 2020, the senior secured notes, including the accrued and unpaid interest, were compromised in its entirety 
as part of the Plan in exchange for Second Lien-Opt Out Payments of $0.2 million and approximately 36.4 percent of the 
issued and outstanding New Shares of Distinction. Including accrued and unpaid interest, the Company recognized a $49.2 
million gain on the compromise of the senior secured notes (Note 23). 
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17) PROVISIONS 

 
 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Decommissioning obligations  34,799 25,254 
Unutilized take-or-pay commitment - 217 

Total 34,799 25,471 

Decommissioning obligations 

The Company’s decommissioning obligations result from working interests in crude oil and natural gas assets including well 
sites, gathering systems and processing facilities. The total decommissioning obligation is estimated based on the 
Company’s net ownership interest in all wells and facilities, estimated costs to reclaim and abandon the wells and facilities 
and the estimated timing of the costs to be incurred in future years. The Company estimates the undiscounted amount of 
estimated cash flows required to settle the decommissioning obligations of $32.5 million (December 31, 2019 - $26.9 million) 
to be settled over the next 36 years. A risk-free rate of 1.21 percent (December 31, 2019 – 1.76 percent) and an inflation 
rate of 1.49 percent (December 31, 2019 – 1.34 percent) were used to calculate the estimated fair value of the 
decommissioning obligations. A reconciliation of the decommissioning obligations is provided below: 

  December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Balance, beginning of year  25,254 28,507 
Liabilities incurred  125 151 
Liabilities disposed  - - 
Liabilities settled  (886) (155) 
Accretion expense  364 555 
Change in future estimated cash outlays  9,942 (3,804) 

Total  34,799 25,254 

    
Current portion  147 1,704 
Long term portion  34,652 23,550 

Unutilized take-or-pay commitment 

  December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Balance, beginning of year  217 867 
Additions  - - 
Settlement of commitment  (225) (672) 
Finance cost  8 22 

Total  - 217 

   
Current portion - 217 
Long term portion - - 

Total - 217 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded a $1.5 million provision related to an unutilized take-or-
pay commitment, which was determined to be an onerous contract. The provision represented the present value of the 
future payments the Company was obligated to make under the take-or-pay commitment. In April 2020, the term of the 
contract concluded.  
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18) DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 

The provision for income taxes differs from the expected amount calculated by applying the combined Federal and Provincial 
corporate income tax rates to Distinction’s loss before taxes. This difference results from the following items: 

 
 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Loss before income taxes (10,859) (75,370) 
Statutory tax rate (1) 24.0% 26.5% 

Expected income tax expense (recovery) (2,606) (19,973) 
Stock-based compensation and other non-deductible items 973 106 
Other 21 377 
Items subject to compromise 10,731 - 
Change in tax rates (1) 154 5,615 
Change in unrecognized deferred income tax asset (9,273) 13,086 

Total deferred income taxes recovery - (789) 
(1) The Alberta corporate income tax rate decreased to 11 percent from 12 percent effective July 1, 2019. The corporate tax rate was scheduled to 

further decrease to ten percent January 1, 2020, nine percent January 1, 2021 and eight percent on January 1, 2022. In June 2020, the Alberta 
government announced an acceleration in the timing of the rate reduction to reduce the tax rate to eight percent effective July 1, 2020. As a result of 
the tax rate changes being enacted, the Company has reduced the effective tax rate from 26.5 percent to 24 percent. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences to the extent that the realization of the related tax 
benefit through future taxable profits is probable.  Due to the uncertainty of future realization as the commodity price outlook 
for commodities remains weak, Distinction has not recognized its deferred income tax asset of $28.3 million. 
 
The components in deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as 
follows: 

 
 

Balance 
December 31, 

2019 
Recognized in 

net earnings 
Recognized in 

equity 

Balance 
December 31, 

2020  

Deferred income tax assets:     
 Decommissioning obligations 5,846 2,158 - 8,004 
 Lease obligations 313 (140) - 173 
       Unutilized take-or-pay commitment 54 (54) - - 
 Non capital losses 15,565 (14,516) - 1,049 
 Share and warrant issue costs 625 272 - 897 

Risk management - 12 - 12 
Other 269 (5) - 264 

Deferred income tax liabilities:     
       Risk management (1,582) 1,544 - (38) 

 Right of use assets (287) 130 - (157) 
 Senior secured note and issuance costs (952) 952 - - 

 Exploration and evaluation and property, 
plant and equipment 

 
(19,851) 

 
9,647 

 
- (10,204) 

Net deferred income tax asset (liability) -   - 
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Balance 
December 31, 

2018 
Recognized in 

net earnings 
Recognized in 

equity 

Balance 
December 31, 

2019  

Deferred income tax assets:     
 Decommissioning obligations 7,697 (1,851) - 5,846 
 Lease obligations - 313 - 313 
       Unutilized take-or-pay commitment 234 (180) - 54 
 Non capital losses 39,594 (24,029) - 15,565 
 Share and warrant issue costs 151 1,263 (789) 625 

Risk management 313 (313) - - 
Other 268 1 - 269 

Deferred income tax liabilities:     
       Risk management (7,502) 5,920 - (1,582) 

 Right of use assets - (287) - (287) 
 Senior secured note and issuance costs (676) (276) - (952) 

 Exploration and evaluation and property, 
plant and equipment 

 
(40,079) 

 
20,228 

 
- 

 
(19,851) 

Net deferred income tax asset (liability) - 789 (789) - 

Non capital losses of $127.6 million will expire in years 2036 through to 2039. 

The Company’s unrecognized deductible temporary differences are as follows: 
 
 Balance December 31, 2020 Balance December 31, 2019  

Non capital losses 122,994 160,573 

19) SHARE CAPITAL 

Distinction is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.  All shares are issued as fully paid and non-
assessable and have no par value.  The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared by the 
Company and are also entitled to one vote per share. 

In accordance with the Company’s Plan, on October 16, 2020, all of the Company’s outstanding common shares, options 
and warrants were cancelled and extinguished for nil consideration and 6.1 million New Shares were issued as part of the 
restructuring contemplated under the Plan. In addition, the Company granted to certain officers and directors options and 
restricted share units entitling them to acquire in the aggregate ten percent of the issued and outstanding New Shares. 

(a) Issued and outstanding 

 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

 
 

Outstanding 
shares (000’s) 

 
Amount 

Outstanding 
shares (000’s) 

 
Amount 

Balance, beginning of year 18,429 353,842 185,547 347,011 
Consolidation (15:1)  - - (173,178)  
Private placement 6,060 10,000 6,060 10,000 
Private placement share issue costs - (159) - (3,169) 
Cancelled in accordance with the Plan (24,489) (363,683) - - 
Issued New Shares  2,106 27,025 - - 
Issued New Shares in exchange for 
compromise of debt  3,983 105,518 - - 
New Shares issue cost - (1,089) - - 

Balance, end of year 6,089 131,454 18,429 353,842 

The Recapitalization Transaction, completed in November 2019, contemplated the Company raising up to $30 million 
through the issuance of 18.2 million equity subscription receipts (“ESRs”).  The ESRs were to be held in escrow and 
exchanged for common shares of the Company upon the satisfaction of certain conditions.  In 2019, 6.1 million ESRs were 
exchanged for 6.1 million common shares of the Company at a price of $1.65 per common share.  In 2019, the Company 
allocated $3.2 million of the Recapitalization Transaction costs to the issue of common shares. In February 2020, 6.1 million 
ESRs were exchanged for 6.1 million common shares of the Company at a price of $1.65 per common share. The Company 
allocated $0.2 million of the Recapitalization Transaction costs to the issue of common shares.  As a result of the 
commencement of CCAA proceedings on April 14, 2020, a return event related to the Recapitalization Transaction occurred 
and the 6.0 million remaining and outstanding ESRs were cancelled with the escrowed proceeds returned to the ESR 
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holders.  In connection with the Recapitalization Transaction, effective November 26, 2019, Distinction consolidated its then 
outstanding common shares on a 15:1 basis.   

On October 16, 2020, in accordance with the Plan, the Company issued 4.0 million shares in exchange for the compromise 
of $155.7 million of secured indebtedness. In addition, the Company issued 0.6 million New Shares at a price of $15 per 
New Share to plan sponsors for gross proceeds of $8.8 million and 1.5 million New Shares together with 3.3 million New 
Warrants to Kiwetinohk for gross proceeds of $22.9 million.  The Company has attributed a $4.6 million fair value to the 
New Warrants.  Each New Warrant entitles Kiwetinohk to purchase additional New Shares of the Company at an aggregate 
exercise price of $11.94 per New Warrant.   

On January 15, 2021, Kiwetinohk exercised their New Warrants for gross proceeds of $40.0 million.  With the exercise of 
the New Warrants, Kiwetinohk now holds 51.6 percent of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company.  
After giving effect to the exercise of the New Warrants, there are 9.4 million common shares outstanding of the Company. 

(b)  Share-based compensation 

In connection with the Plan, all pre-existing outstanding stock options of the Company were cancelled and extinguished for 
nil consideration.  As a result of the cancellation of 3.2 million stock options, of which 2.7 million were unvested, the Company 
recognized $57 thousand of share-based compensation for remaining unvested options as at October 16, 2020. 

In accordance with the Plan, on October 16, 2020, the Company granted to certain officers and directors options and 
restricted share units entitling them to acquire in the aggregate ten percent of the issued and outstanding New Shares.  
Each option and restricted share unit entitles the holder to purchase one common share per option or restricted share unit 
at the grant price. 

The stock options have an exercise price of $15 per option and vest in full upon the achievement of certain conditions 
particularly, a merger, change of control event, listing on an approved exchange,  liquidation or termination of employment 
(without cause).  The options have a maximum term of ten years but contain an early termination clause to expire two years 
from the date when Kiwetinohk exercises the New Warrants and the Company is listed on an approved exchange listing 
within a date that is approved by the board of directors.  Subsequent to December 31, 2020, a change of control event 
occurred with the exercise of the New Warrants by Kiwetinohk, fulfilling vesting conditions to the options. 

The restricted share units have an exercise price of $0.01 per restricted share unit, vested in full on grant date and are 
exercisable during the time period commencing on January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 when they expire.  If Kiwetinohk 
exercises the New Warrants and the Company is listed on an approved exchange listing within a date that is approved by 
the board of directors, then the restricted share units expire two years from the date such conditions are met. 

The following table summarizes the changes in the number of options and restricted share units outstanding and the 
weighted average exercise prices:  

 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

 
 

Outstanding 
options (000’s) 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

Outstanding 
options (000’s) 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

Balance, beginning of year 6,685 1.10 9,720 $1.43 
Forfeited - - (1,635) $1.09 
Expired (187) 1.20 (1,400) $3.48 
Cancelled in accordance with 
the Plan 

(6,498) 1.08 - - 

Options granted 304 15.00 - - 
Restricted share units granted 304 0.01 - - 

Balance, end of year 608 7.51 6,685 $1.09 

Exercisable, end of year 304 0.01 4,692 $1.10 
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The following table summarizes information about the stock options and restricted share units outstanding and 
exercisable at December 31, 2020: 
 
 Outstanding  Exercisable  

 
 
 
 

 
 

Outstanding 
options (000’s) 

 
Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

Weighted 
average 

remaining term 
(years) 

 
 

Exercisable 
(000’s) 

 
 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 

Options 304 15.00 9.8 - - 
Restricted share units 304 0.01 1.0 304 0.01 

Total 608 7.51 5.4  304 0.01 

The Company accounts for its share-based compensation using the fair value method for all stock options and restricted 
share units. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Distinction recognized share-based compensation expense of $3.9 
million (December 31, 2019 - $0.4 million) related to its stock options and restricted share units, of which $nil was capitalized 
(December 31, 2019: $0.2 million).  

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company did not grant any stock options.  The fair values of all options and 
restricted share units granted during the period are estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. The fair value of options and restricted share units granted in 2020 was $1.15 and $12.00, respectively. The weighted 
average of the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model to determine fair value were as follows: 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 2019 

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.23 - 
Expected life (years) 1.2 - 
Forfeiture rate (%) Nil - 
Expected volatility (%) 40 - 

(c) Warrants 

 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

 
 

Outstanding 
warrants (000’s) 

 
Amount 

Outstanding 
warrants (000’s) 

 
Amount 

Balance, beginning of year 88,200 5,627 14,700 3,055 
Issued - - 73,500 3,758 
Deferred income tax effect - -  (789) 
Transaction costs - - - (397) 
Cancelled in accordance with the Plan (88,200) (5,627) - - 
Issued in accordance with the Plan 3,349 4,642 - - 
Allocation of transaction costs  (48)   

Balance, end of year 3,349 4,594 88,200 5,627 

On October 16, 2020, in accordance with the Plan, all previously outstanding warrants were cancelled and extinguished for 
no consideration.  Concurrently, the Company issued 1.5 million New Shares together with 3.3 million New Warrants to 
Kiwetinohk for gross proceeds of $22.9 million.   The New Warrants entitle Kiwetinohk to purchase one New Share of the 
Company for an aggregate exercise price of $11.94 per New Warrant.  The New Warrants expire ten days after the Company 
has listed on an exchange that is approved by the Board of Directors. The following table summarizes information about 
the warrants outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2020: 

 Outstanding  Exercisable  

 
 

Outstanding 
warrants (000’s) 

 
Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

Weighted 
average 

remaining term 
(years) 

 
 

Exercisable (000’s) 

 
 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

3,349 $11.94 0.25                    3,349 $11.94 
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The fair value of New Warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the date of grant 
using the following assumptions: 

 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.15 
Expected life (years) 0.5 
Forfeiture rate (%) Nil 
Expected volatility (%) 40 

 
(d) Net loss per share 

Net loss per share has been calculated based on a net loss of $10.9 million (2019 net loss: $74.6 million) and reflect the 
impact of the Plan as if the number of outstanding New Shares was in effect at the beginning of the year and for comparative 
periods.   

For the years ended December 31, (000s)   2020 2019 

Weighted average common shares - basic (1)   6,089 6,089 
Dilutive effect of share options outstanding    - - 

Weighted average common shares - diluted   6,089 6,089 
(1) Reflects outstanding common shares in accordance with the implementation of the Plan. 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, a total of 0.6 million options and restricted share units (December 31, 2019: 0.6 
million) and 3.3 million warrants (December 31, 2019: 3.3 million) were excluded from the calculation as they were anti-
dilutive.   

20) REVENUE 

Crude oil and natural gas sales are comprised of the following: 

   2020 2019 

Natural gas   20,128 28,842 
Field condensate   30,175 53,194 
Natural gas liquids   6,071 10,846 
Sulphur   (1) 256 

Total crude oil and natural gas sales   56,373 93,138 

21) NATURE OF EXPENSES 

Distinction’s consolidated statement of loss is prepared primarily by nature of expense, with the exception of employee 
salaries and benefits costs which are included in both the operating and general and administrative expense line items.  The 
following table details operating, general and administrative and employee compensation costs: 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 2019 

Operating 19,925 28,684 
Employee salaries and benefits (351) (572) 

Operating, before employee compensation 19,574 28,112 
   
General and administrative 7,883 5,275 
Employee salaries and benefits (4,607) (3,463) 

General and administrative, before employee compensation 3,276 1,812 
   
Employee salaries and benefits 4,958 4,035 

Total 27,808 33,959 

22) RESTRUCTURING COSTS 

In 2020, the Company has incurred $8.6 million in connection with the CCAA proceedings. Restructuring costs are 
comprised of legal fees, monitor fees, financial advisory fees, investor relations, consultant fees and termination payments.  

Due to the implementation of the Plan, the Company may be subject to further termination benefits in the amount of $0.8 
million as a result of Kiwetinohk exercising the New Warrants. As these additional termination benefits were dependent on 
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an event that is outside of the Company’s control, and the event occurred subsequent to December 31, 2020, the Company 
has not recorded a provision at December 31, 2020. 

23) GAIN ON COMPROMISE OF LIABILITIES 

For the year ended December 31, 2020 

Interim 
Loan 

Facility 

Senior 
Credit 

Facility 

Senior 
Secured 

Notes 
Accounts 
Payable Total 

Carrying amount including unpaid and accrued interest 13,691 13,294 128,713 30,200 185,898 
Second Lien-Opt Out Elections and General 
Unsecured Creditors (1) - - (224) (3,000) (3,224) 

Carrying value of secured debt allocated to 
shareholder secured creditor (2) 

(10,336) (10,037) (63,163) - (83,536) 

Fair value of debt to equity swap (non-shareholder 
secured creditor) 

(3,308) (3,187) (15,487) - (21,982) 

Allocation of transaction costs (34) (33) (628) (321) (1,016) 

Gain on compromise 13 37 49,211 26,879 76,140 
(1) As such terms defined in the Plan 
(2) Consistent with IFRS, indebtedness held by existing shareholders that is compromised and exchanged for New Shares of the Company is recorded 

at the carrying value of the indebtedness with no gain or loss recognized on the transactions.   

In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company compromised $185.9 million of secured and unsecured debt in accordance with 
the Plan, recognizing $76.1 million gain on compromise. 

24) FINANCE COSTS 

Finance costs is comprised of the following: 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 2019 

Interest on long term debt 2,368 4,667 
Effective interest on senior secured notes 20,400 12,935 
Effective interest on lease obligations 100 292 
Effective interest on Capital Surcharge 171 - 
Accretion on decommissioning obligations 364 555 
Effective interest on unutilized take-or-pay commitment 8 22 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (104) 203 

Total 23,307 18,674 

25) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

a) Key management personnel  

Key management includes officers and directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. Short-term benefits are 
composed of salaries and directors’ fees, annual bonuses and other benefits.  Long term incentive plans relate to the 
Company’s share purchase plan which was suspended in May 2019. In addition, the Company provides share-based 
compensation to its officers and directors. The compensation related to key management is shown below: 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 2019 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 2,785 2,267 
Long term incentive compensation - 65 
Termination payments 352 1,547 
Share-based compensation  3,832 54 

Total 6,969 3,933 
 

b) Other related party transactions 
 
Luminus Energy 
 
Prior to the implementation of the Plan, Luminus Energy held approximately 57 percent of the then issued and outstanding 
common shares of the Company and approximately $58.7 million of principal amount of the outstanding senior secured 
notes.  During CCAA, Luminus Energy purchased an assignment of all of the rights of Distinction’s first lien senior secured 
lenders under Distinction’s credit facilities in the amount of $13.0 million.  In addition, Luminus Energy provided for a $13.5 
million Interim Loan Facility.  Luminus Energy, through a restructuring and support agreement, assigned $3.2 million and 
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$3.3 million of its interest in the first lien senior secured facility and Interim Loan Facility to plan sponsors.  During the year, 
the Company recognized $5.0 million of interest expense in relation to secured debt held by Luminus Energy, of which $4.8 
million was compromised under the Plan. The first lien senior secured facility and Interim Loan Facility were both 
compromised under the Plan in exchange for New Shares of the Company. After giving effect to the transactions of the Plan 
on October 16, 2020, Luminus Energy held 42.7 percent of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. 
 
Kiwetinohk Resources Corp. 
 
As part of the restructuring contemplated under the Plan, the Company issued Kiwetinohk 25 percent of the issued and 
outstanding New Shares (on a non-diluted basis) plus 3.3 million New Warrants exercisable into New Shares of the 
Company.  The Chief Executive Officer of Kiwetinohk is also a board member of Distinction.  Concurrently with the 
implementation of the Plan, the Company has entered into a Management Services Agreement (the “MSA”) with Kiwetinohk 
which, among other things, gives Kiwetinohk significant influence over the Company in exchange for a monthly fee payable 
to Kiwetinohk and the reimbursement of certain restructuring fees.  The MSA has a termination date of October 16, 2021. 
In 2020, the Company has recognized a total of $0.4 million and $1.0 million of monthly MSA fees and restructuring fees 
payable to Kiwetinohk, respectively. 

 
26) COMMITMENTS 

Distinction is committed to future minimum payments for natural gas gathering, processing and transmission, leases on 
compression equipment, computer software and office space. Distinction has a lease for office space in Calgary, Alberta. 
Payments required under these commitments for each of the next five years are as follows: 

 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter 

Gathering, processing and transmission (1) 11,662 14,286 14,280 14,303 12,096 294 
Operating commitments (2) 472 448 375 287 - - 
Management services agreement (3) 2,062 - - - - - 

Total  14,196 14,734 14,655 14,590 12,096 294 
(1) Balances denominated in US dollars have been translated at the December 31, 2020 exchange rate. 

(2) Operating commitments include variable operating costs related to the Company’s office leases. 

(3) Monthly fee payable to Kiwetinohk in accordance with the Management Services Agreement dated July 5, 2020. On February 17, 2021, the Company 
entered into an agreement with Kiwetinohk which, conditional upon closing of the Acquisition (Note 28), extends the time period of the monthly fee as 
contemplated in the Management Services Agreement from one year to five years. 

27) SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

Changes in non-cash working capital are comprised of the following: 

For the years ended December 31,  2020  2019 

Source (use) of cash     
  Accounts receivable  4,546  18,306 
  Prepaid expenses and deposits  (1,279)  (812) 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1)   28,912  (31,065) 

Total change in non-cash working capital  32,179  (13,571) 

 
Relating to: 

    

  Operating activities  9,710  593 
  Investing activities  22,469  (14,164) 

  32,179  (13,571) 
(1) Includes $35.6 million of accounts payable and accrued liabilities that were compromised under the plan. 

28) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On January 15, 2021, Kiwetinohk exercised their New Warrants for gross proceeds of $40.0 million.  With the exercise of 
the New Warrants, Kiwetinohk and Luminus Energy now hold 51.6 percent and 27.6 percent, respectively, of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of the Company.   

In February 2021, the Company committed to participate as to 50 percent in a $335 million acquisition, including $15 million 
in contingency payments based on future commodity prices, entered into by Kiwetinohk for certain interests in the Simonette 
area of northwest Alberta (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition consists of certain multi-zone, oil and liquids-rich natural gas 
producing assets in the Simonette area of northwest Alberta, including associated infrastructure and additional assets in 
the Willesden Green and Ferrier areas of Alberta. Distinction and Kiwetinohk, a majority shareholder of Distinction’s issued 
and outstanding common shares, have agreed through an Acquisition Opportunity Agreement that the Acquisition and the 
purchase price (subject to adjustments) will be split equally. Distinction’s portion of the acquisition is anticipated to be 
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financed with cash on hand and a proposed $127.5 million newly extended credit facility with a syndicate of banks. 
Distinction has provided a $7.5 million deposit toward its share of the purchase price. The deposit may not be returnable to 
Distinction under certain conditions if the Acquisition does not close. The Acquisition is anticipated to close in the second 
quarter and is subject to applicable regulatory approvals and other customary conditions. No assurance can be provided 
that the transaction will close or close as described. 

On February 17, 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Kiwetinohk which, conditional upon closing of the 
Acquisition, among other things, extends the time period of the monthly fee as contemplated in the MSA from one year to 
five years. 

On February 24, 2021, the Company closed a private placement of 265,331 special warrants (“Special Warrants”) issued 
at a price of $15 per Special Warrant for gross proceeds of $4.0 million. Each Special Warrant is, subject to adjustments in 
certain circumstances, exercisable into one New Share of the Company without payment of any additional consideration.   

All unexercised Special Warrants shall be deemed exercised on behalf of, and without any required action on the part of 
the holders (including payment of additional consideration) upon the satisfaction of certain conditions.  

After giving effect to Kiwetinohk’s exercise of the New Warrants and private placement of the Special Warrants, there are 
9,437,523 Common Shares and 265,331 Special Warrants issued and outstanding. 

29) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary and a 
partnership.  Any reference to Distinction or the Company throughout these consolidated financial statements refers to 
the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary and partnership.  All inter-entity transactions and balances have been 
eliminated. 

(b) Jointly controlled operations and assets 

Certain of the Company’s crude oil and natural gas activities are conducted jointly with others where the participants 
have a direct ownership interest in, and jointly control, the related assets.  Accordingly, the accounts of Distinction reflect 
only its working interest share of revenues, expenses and capital expenditures related to these jointly controlled assets. 

(c) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the exchange rate on the date of the 
transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at 
the period end exchange rate.  Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of earnings (loss). 

(d) Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.  All financial instruments, including all derivatives, are recognized on the consolidated 
statement of financial position at fair value at the time the Company becomes a party to the provisions of the contract. 
Subsequently, all financial assets and liabilities, except financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through 
earnings are measured at amortized cost determined using the effective interest method.  Financial assets and liabilities 
carried at fair value through earnings or loss are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the 
consolidated statement of earnings (loss).     

Transaction costs attributable to financial instruments carried at fair value through earnings or loss are expensed as 
incurred.  All other transaction costs related to the Company’s financial instruments are recorded as part of the 
instrument and are amortized using the effective interest method. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Company has the legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis 
or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or if it 



  

29 

transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all 
the risk and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
is created or retained by the Company is recognized as a separate asset or liability.  The Company derecognizes a 
financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. 

The Company has a risk management program whereby the commodity price associated with a portion of its future 
production volumes is fixed in order to mitigate cash flow volatility resulting from fluctuating commodity prices.  The 
Company sells forward a portion of its future production volumes by entering into a combination of physical sale 
contracts with customers and derivative financial contracts such as fixed price contracts, costless collars and the 
purchase of floor price options with financial counterparties.  These instruments are not used for trading or speculative 
purposes.   

The Company has not designated its financial derivative contracts as effective accounting hedges and thus has not 
applied hedge accounting.  As a result, financial derivatives are classified as fair value through earnings or loss and are 
recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value.    

The Company accounts for its commodity sales and purchase contracts, which were entered into and continue to be 
held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of non-financial items in accordance with its expected purchase, sale or usage 
requirements as executory contracts.  As such, these contracts are not considered to be derivative financial instruments 
and have not been recorded at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position.  Settlements on these 
physical sales contracts are recognized in crude oil and natural gas sales in the consolidated statement of earnings 
(loss). 

Common shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares are 
recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any taxes. 

(e) Exploration and evaluation assets 

Costs incurred before acquiring the legal right to explore in a specific area do not meet the definition of an asset and 
therefore are expensed by the Company as incurred.   

Exploration and evaluation assets consist of expenditures incurred in an exploration area pending the determination of 
technical feasibility and commercial viability.  Exploration and evaluation expenditures, including the costs of acquiring 
licenses, drilling exploratory wells and other directly attributable costs are capitalized and accumulated in cost centres 
by well, field or exploration area.   

The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource is considered to be determinable when 
proved and probable reserves are determined to exist and are capable of economic production.  A review of each 
exploration license or field is carried out, at each reporting period, to ascertain whether economic proved and probable 
reserves have been discovered.  Upon determination of total proved and probable reserves, exploration and evaluation 
assets attributable to those reserves are first tested for impairment and then reclassified from exploration and evaluation 
assets to property, plant and equipment.  If an exploration and evaluation asset is determined to be unsuccessful, all 
associated costs are charged to the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) at that time. 

Assets classified as exploration and evaluation are not subject to depletion and depreciation until they are reclassified 
to property, plant and equipment. 

For exchanges or parts of exchanges that involve only exploration and evaluation assets, the exchange is accounted 
for at the carrying value of the asset given up and no gain or loss is recognized. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

i) Recognition and measurement 

 Items of property, plant and equipment, which include crude oil and natural gas development and production 
assets, are measured at cost less accumulated depletion and depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Property, plant and equipment consist of costs to drill and complete development wells, infrastructure 
construction, successful exploration and evaluation assets and the related asset retirement obligation. 

ii)  Subsequent costs 

 Costs incurred subsequent to the determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability and the costs of 
replacing parts of property, plant and equipment are recognized as crude oil and natural gas interests only when 
it is probable that the costs increase the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which they 
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relate. Such capitalized oil and natural gas interests generally represent costs incurred in developing proved or 
proved and probable reserves and bringing on or enhancing production from such reserves and are accumulated 
on a field or area basis. The carrying amount of any replaced or sold component is derecognized. The costs of 
the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
earnings (loss) as incurred. 

 Property, plant and equipment, including crude oil and natural gas interests, are de-recognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Gains and losses 
on the disposal of assets are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposition with the net carrying amount 
of the asset and are recognized on a net basis in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss). 

i) Asset exchanges 

Exchanges of development and production assets are measured at fair value, unless the exchange transaction 
lacks commercial substance or the fair value of the assets given up or the assets received cannot be reliably 
estimated.  The cost of the acquired asset is measured at the fair value of the asset given up, unless the fair value 
of the asset received is more reliable.  Where fair value is not used, the cost of the acquired asset is measured 
at the carrying amount of the asset given up.  Any gain or loss on the de-recognition of the asset given up is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss). 

ii) Depletion and depreciation 

 The net carrying amount of development and production assets is depleted using the unit-of-production method 
by reference to the ratio of production in the period to the related proved and probable reserves, taking into 
account estimated future development costs necessary to bring those reserves into production and estimated net 
realizable value of production equipment and facilities. Future development costs are estimated taking into 
account the level of development required to produce the reserves. These estimates are reviewed by the 
Company’s independent engineers at least annually and determined in accordance with NI 51-101 and COGEH. 
For the purpose of this calculation, production and reserves of petroleum and natural gas are converted to a 
common unit of measure on the basis of their relative energy content, where six thousand cubic feet of natural 
gas equates to one barrel of oil.   

 The estimated useful lives for certain production assets for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
 

Facilities 30 years - 33 years 

Crude oil and natural gas properties Based on reserve life 

 For other assets, depreciation is recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) on a declining 
balance basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased 
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that 
the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  

The estimated useful lives for other assets for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

Furniture and office equipment 5 years 

Leaseholds Term of the lease 

   Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.  

(g) Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.  The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate consideration transferred, measured at the acquisition date fair value.  If the cost of the 
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized immediately in net earnings 
(loss).  If the cost of the acquisition is more than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized 
on the balance sheet as goodwill.  Acquisition transaction costs incurred are expensed. 
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(h) Assets held for sale 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is met when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for 
immediate sale in its present condition. For the sale to be highly probable, management must be committed to a plan 
to sell the asset and an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been initiated. The asset 
must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value and the sale should 
be expected to be completed within one year from the date of classification.  

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell, with impairments recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) in the period measured. Non-
current assets held for sale are presented in current assets and liabilities within the consolidated statement of financial 
position. Assets held for sale are not depleted, depreciated or amortized. 

(i) Impairment 

(i) Financial assets 

 A financial asset not classified at fair value through earnings or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired 
if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash 
flows of that asset. 

 An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. 

 Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. Those found not to be 
individually impaired are then assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

 All impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss).  

 An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the reversal is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of earnings (loss). 

(ii) Non-financial assets 

 The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if 1) sufficient data exists to determine 
technical feasibility and commercial viability and 2) facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount.   

 For the purpose of assessing impairment of oil and gas properties, assets are tested at the CGU level. The 
recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset.  Value in use is generally computed by reference to the present value of the future cash flows expected to 
be derived from production of proved and probable reserves.  Fair value is determined as the amount that would 
be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. 

 An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss). Impairment losses 
recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets in the unit on a pro 
rata basis. 

 Impairment losses in respect of property, plant and equipment recognized in prior years are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depletion and depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
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(j) Short term employee benefits 

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided.  A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus plans if 
the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by 
the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(k) Share-based compensation 

Long term incentives are granted to officers, directors, employees and certain consultants in accordance with the 
Company’s stock option and restricted share unit (“RSU”) plans. 

i) Equity-settled share-based awards 

The fair value determined at the grant date of an award is expensed on a graded basis over the vesting period of 
each respective tranche with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus.  In calculating the expense of the 
stock options, Distinction revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest by applying 
an estimated forfeiture rate for each vesting tranche and subsequently revising this estimate throughout the 
vesting period, as necessary, with a final adjustment to reflect the actual number of awards that vest.  Upon the 
exercise of the stock options, consideration paid by the stock option holders and the value in contributed surplus 
pertaining to the exercised stock options are recorded as share capital.  In the event that vested stock options 
expire without being exercised, previously recognized compensation costs associated with such awards are not 
reversed. 

The fair value of employee stock options is measured using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Measurement 
inputs include the share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based 
on weighted average historic volatility), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical 
experience and general option holder behavior), expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate (based on 
government bonds). 

ii) Cash-settled share-based awards 

The Company’s RSU plan is accounted for as a cash-settled share-based payment plan. The fair value of the 
amount payable under the RSU plan is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities.  
The liability is calculated at each reporting date and at settlement date.  Any changes in the fair value of the 
liability are recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss).  

A portion of share-based compensation directly attributable to the exploration and development of the Company’s 
assets is capitalized. 

(l) Leases 

Distinction recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs and restoration costs. The right-of-use asset is 
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for certain re-
measurements of the lease liability.  The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and 
the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments at the commencement date of the 
lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot be readily determined, Distinction’s 
incremental borrowing rate.  Generally, Distinction uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.  Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The lease liability is re-measured when there is a change in 
an index or rate, a change in future lease payments arising from a change in the estimate of the amount expected to 
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or 
extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.   

Lease payments on short term leases with lease terms of less than twelve months or leases on which the underlying 
asset is of low value are accounted for as expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings. 

Distinction has applied judgment to determine the lease term for some lease contracts, in which it is a lessee, that 
include renewal options.  The assessment of whether the Company is reasonably certain to exercise such options 
impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognized. 
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The accounting policies applicable to Distinction as a lessor are not different from those under IAS 17. Distinction has 
not identified any contracts for which it is a lessor. 

(m)  Provisions  

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that 
can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability if the risks have not been incorporated into 
the estimate of cash flows. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 

Onerous contracts 

 A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected economic benefits received by the Company from 
a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligation under the contract. The provision is measured 
at the lower of the cost of terminating the contract and the present value of the expected cash flows of the remaining 
term of the contract.   

 Decommissioning obligations 

 The Company’s activities give rise to dismantling, decommissioning and site remediation activities. A provision is made 
for the estimated cost of site restoration and capitalized in the relevant asset category.  

 Decommissioning obligations are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Subsequent to 
the initial measurement, the obligation is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the passage of time and changes 
in the estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation as well as changes to the discount rate. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost whereas increases or decreases due to changes 
in the estimated future cash flows or changes in the discount rate are capitalized. Actual costs incurred upon settlement 
of the decommissioning obligations are charged against the provision to the extent the provision was established.  The 
difference between the actual costs incurred and the provision established is recorded as a gain or loss in the 
consolidated statement of earnings (loss). 

(n) Flow-through shares 

Distinction may issue flow-through shares to finance a portion of its capital expenditure program.  Pursuant to the terms 
of the flow-through share agreements, the tax deductions associated with the expenditures are renounced to the 
subscribers.  The difference between the value ascribed to the flow-through shares issued and the value that would 
have been received for common shares with no tax attributes is initially recognized as a liability.  When the expenditures 
are incurred, the liability is drawn down, a deferred tax liability is recorded equal to the estimated amount of deferred 
income tax payable by the Company as a result of the renunciation and the difference is recognized as a deferred tax 
expense or recovery. 

(o) Revenues 

Distinction’s crude oil and natural gas are sold under short-term contracts with terms that are less than one year at 
market index prices. Revenue from the sale of crude oil and natural gas is measured based on the consideration 
specified in contracts with customers. Distinction recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the product to the 
customer. This is generally at the time the customer obtains legal title to the product and when it is physically transferred 
to the delivery mechanism agreed with the customer, often pipelines.  Revenues are typically collected on the 25th day 
of the following month of delivery. 

Distinction evaluates its arrangements with third parties and partners to determine if the Company acts as the principal 
or as an agent. In making this evaluation, management considers if the Company obtains control of the product 
delivered, which is indicated by Distinction having the primary responsibility for the delivery of the product, having the 
ability to establish prices or having inventory risk. If Distinction acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as a principal 
in a transaction, then the revenue is recognized on a net-basis, only reflecting the fee, if any, realized by the Company 
from the transaction. 

Fees charged to other entities for use of facilities owned by the Company are evaluated by management to determine 
if these originate from contracts with customers or from incidental or collaborative arrangements. Fees charged to other 
entities that are from contracts with customers are recognized in revenue when the related services are provided. 

 Marketing revenues are comprised of the sale of purchased third party natural gas and premiums collected from third 
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parties for the temporary assignment of excess natural gas transportation.  Marketing revenues are recorded when 
control of the natural gas or the natural gas transportation is transferred to the buyer. 

(p) Finance costs 

Finance costs are comprised of interest expense and stamping fees on borrowings, amortization of negotiation fees, 
accretion of the discount on decommissioning obligations, accretion of deferred fees on subordinated debt and senior 
secured notes and the effective interest rate on the Company’s unutilized take-or-pay obligation. 

(q) Income taxes 

 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of earnings (loss) except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly 
in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

 Deferred taxes are recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred 
taxes are not recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable earnings. In addition, deferred taxes are not recognized for 
taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, 
or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 
and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.  

 A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
the related tax benefit will be realized. 

(r) Earnings (loss) per share 

 Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net earnings or loss attributable to common shareholders 
of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted per share 
information is calculated giving effect to the potential dilution that would occur if stock options were exercised.  The 
dilutive effect of stock options is calculated with the assumption that proceeds received from the exercise of options, for 
which the exercise price is less than the market price, plus the unamortized portion of share-based compensation 
expense are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price for the period.  No adjustment to dilutive 
earnings (loss) per share is made if the result of these calculations is anti-dilutive. 

(s) Cash  

Cash consist of cash balances. 

(t) Government grants 

In the current accounting period, the Company adopted and applied IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and 
Disclosure of Government Assistance.  Government grants are accounted for when there is reasonable assurance that 
conditions attached to the grants are met and that the grants will be received. The Company recognizes government 
grants in net income on a systematic basis and in line with recognition of the expenses that the grants are intended to 
compensate.  The Company has recognized the government grants in other income. 

30) CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

In the current accounting period, the Company adopted the amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”). 

IFRS 3 was amended in October 2018 to revise the definition of the term 'business'. The amendments narrowed the 
definitions of a business and outputs and includes an optional concentration test. The adoption of this amendment did 
not have an impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.  
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